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ATTACHMENT: Breakout room and plenary discussions 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

  



Round One Feedback Report – Appendix 1. Public Meeting Summaries, Chestnut Attachment - 2 

Breakout room discussion on Volume 1: The Plans  
 
There were approximately 30 participants from the public in this room who divided into four 
facilitated discussion groups, including two conversations about the Quayside and River District 
Plans; one conversation about social infrastructure; and one conversation about economic 
development. Participants included (but not limited to) local residents and interested citizens, 
students, civil servants, educators, community organizers and advocacy groups, and 
representatives from local unions.  
 
Feedback on the Plans 
 
Generally, participants at the table were opposed to the Sidewalk Labs proposal and were not 
comfortable with it advancing. Comments centred on the following themes: 
 
Overall response to Draft MIDP document 

• Participants said they were overwhelmed by the size of the MIDP - “I don’t know where to 
begin.”  They questioned if small table discussion was to focus only on Quayside (12 acres) 
or include all 190 acres.  Also questions about how Sidewalk Labs justifies going beyond the 
scope and purpose as outlined in the RFP.   

 
Concerns about the process 

• Concerns were raised on the RFP process and participants asked: When the RFP was 
developed, did it frame the purpose and scope for Quayside only? How did 12 acres 
proceed over to 190 acres?   

• Participants concluded that it needs to be made very clear to Sidewalk Labs that only 
Quayside is at the table for development.  Then, based on its success at Quayside, 
development of adjacent lands may begin with another round of RFPs.   

• Question of transparency and equitability was raised.  Specifically, how would future RFP 
processes be equitable, undertake due diligence and be transparent when Sidewalk Labs 
would already be a partner?  In some participants’ opinion this is an unfair process.  
Participants asked for more clarity on this matter.   

 
Concerns and comments about the proposal 

• Many participants were concerned about the expanded area of proposal. 

• Some participants felt that the project should be built and owned by the City, so that we can 
derive our own benefits from it. Comment that what we are getting versus what we are 
giving seems outsized. 

• Question around who the landlord of the rental housing would be? Participants thought it 
was vital that clarification be provided around this. 

 
Concerns about Google/Alphabet (and Sidewalk Labs) 

• Concern was raised about the poor history Google/Alphabet in their development strategies, 
urban design methods, and working relationships with cities. 

• They specified the track record of walking out on professional partnerships and leaving cities 
with debt is prominent. With this in mind, participants want to know Sidewalk Labs’ 
accountability to the City, both from a public and financial perspective.  This needs to be 
transparent in the second round of public meetings. 

• Waterfront Toronto is already doing good work without Sidewalk Labs. 

• Sidewalk Labs is a relatively new company. Why would we allow them to build this project 
given their lack of experience? 

• Concern that the company(ies) have histories of acting in bad faith in other communities, 
and this should matter here. 
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• The capture of data in general is concerning, but this concern is heightened by the fact that 
Sidewalk Labs, an Alphabet company, is involved. How can we be an effective gatekeeper 
for Sidewalk Labs? 

 
Housing and affordable access to all citizens 

• Participants were interested in learning more about housing and affordable access for the 
“ordinary working class citizen” at Toronto’s waterfront.  Specifically, how and in what 
manner does the working class fit within the MIDP?  They said, “More and more ordinary 
people are being driven out of Toronto’s waterfront with housing and affordable access no 
longer in their reach.”   

• Affirmation that it’s imperative the City’s waterfront is accessible to all citizens.  

• Some support for affordable housing but participants questioned Sidewalk Labs’ overall 
housing vision and its accessibility to all citizens.  
 

Waterfront Toronto and its role 

• Waterfront Toronto’s overall vision for development of Toronto’s waterfront was an area of 
concern.  Some participants believe that, to-date, the development of public space/green 
space at the City’s waterfront has been disastrous and poorly planned. Some said that 
Waterfront Toronto has fallen short and are not confident they can well manage this project 
based on its complexity and volume.  Has Waterfront Toronto learned from their past 
mistakes?  The issue was raised about the organizations’ priorities and key objectives to 
uphold the public’s interest.  

• Private organizations, like Sidewalk Labs, are motivated by money and Waterfront Toronto 
“cannot be seduced” by their plans and innovation.  What strategy, if any, does Waterfront 
Toronto have to counter-balance this? 

 
Privatization of public lands 

• Some commented that “We are selling our souls to the private sector”.   

• Participants want to know how Waterfront Toronto will ensure public lands are not totally 
privatized.  “According to the Draft MIDP it already looks like Sidewalk Labs is controlling 
everything. It is our city, our waterfront and Waterfront Toronto has to be in control.”  
Participants want to know how Waterfront Toronto will mitigate this risk.  Further clarification 
is required.    

 
Concerns about innovations 

• A number of participants expressed concern that we shouldn’t let ourselves be “guinea pigs” 
for a multinational corporation. 

• A concern around fiber optic internet proposal: Why is it needed? Who pays for it? Who 
owns it? What is to benefit to Toronto from this project? 

• A concern about who is responsible if a proposed innovation doesn't work, or breaks down? 
 
Feedback about Social Infrastructure 
 
Comfortable/Supportive 

• Participants like that it’s a plan for mixed development (commercial, residential, light 
manufacturing). 

• Participants like the idea of using apps and online technologies to match residents to 
volunteer opportunities, connect them to each other. 

• Generally it’s interesting to see digital tools integrated into how social infrastructure would 
be designed and built.  

 
Less comfortable/need more info 
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• Generally need more information about the feasibility of implementing these ideas. 

• For the school, would Sidewalk Labs be providing additional funding to TDSB to pay for the 
innovations they will want to include? More information needed about Sidewalk Lab’s plans 
for including digital innovation in the school. 

• Who would be a part of the building and development process? This is important 
information, especially with respect to the integration of equity-seeking groups and 
Community Benefit Agreements 

• How would the space sharing be organized? It’s a new idea, would be hard to communicate 
it properly and make sure it works for people. 

• Ability to “reserve” public space raised the concern this would create conflict over public 
space (between those who understand the system and those who don’t). 

• What is the plan for ongoing operational costs? 

• Would there be staff of some kind involved in animating all of these spaces? Because 
there’s so much new technology involved, people would need help navigating it. 

• Concern about overlap with existing services in the city (for example, Toronto Public Library 
does a lot of space sharing and connecting residents—could Sidewalk Labs connect with 
Toronto Public Library so as not to duplicate?). 

• The governance structure proposed is very complicated; this would be difficult for a lot of 
residents to navigate – could it be simplified?  

• “A lot of these ideas, we already do in Toronto – could the City not just implement them 
ourselves?”  

• More information needed about ongoing job creation as per the maintenance of social 
infrastructure. Who pays for the maintenance of these facilities, and would jobs be created 
through that process? 

• Concern that the social infrastructure is not being paid for by Sidewalk Labs. Since they are 
benefiting from the public’s data, they should have to pay for this. 

 
Conditions under which people could be willing to move forward 

• More information needed about financing, partnerships and implementation plans generally. 

• Some indicated that the following community and social services should be integrated into 
the Sidewalk Labs proposal: lots of access to green space, access to equipment and tool 
sharing for residents to have hobbies and do-it-yourself (DIY) things, community kitchens, 
community gardens, farmers’ markets, an outdoor pool, and a skating rink. 

 
Other 

• Sidewalk Labs should collaborate with existing services and groups (for example, the 
library) and make clear how they would value-add, rather than duplicate. 

• Sidewalk Labs should plan even more community space. 
 
Feedback about Economic Development 
 
Some broadly supportive of the MIDP proposal 

• Some in favour of the MIDP, given the opportunity to create a technology hub, and support 
startups, notwithstanding the fact that concerns have been expressed and that there are 
tricky questions). 

• See innovation cluster as very positive - building on booming tech scene in Toronto. More 
tech jobs created last year than San Francisco/New York/Seattle combined. 

• The project would benefit from creation of co-working spaces for local firms; and would also 
benefit from more diversity than just Google HQ, by including space local startups/firms. 

• Office vacancy in Toronto is very low (4%?) - so need more commercial space that this 
proposal offers; “if you build it, they will come”. 
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• Urban Innovation Institute and Venture Fund are positive, but would need to be in the public 
interest (i.e. some guidance from government / public agencies, ensure benefit to smaller / 
local entrepreneurs). 

• Supportive of innovation and believe Google can bring value, urban innovation, and without 
Sidewalk Labs the likelihood is “same boring buildings” developers have been putting up. 

• Question about what the initial steps would be to live / operate retail in Quayside once built 
(i.e. to “co-lab”, commercial or co-working spaces once built; and to ensure local residents 
have access) 

 
Strong Concerns about the MIDP generally 

• If Toronto is booming, why do we need Google? (i.e. big tech sector growth and job 
creation, lots of property development, many urban innovation institutes already - so why do 
we need this?). 

• Concerns with the process getting to the MIDP; the unusual Waterfront Toronto RFP 
process, concern about political deals. 

• Concerns with the “vendor”, Google / Sidewalk Labs - extensive lobbying, power asymmetry, 
international track record. 

• Concern with why the Google HQ needs to be on Villiers, and not Quayside site. 

• Concern with the affordable housing proposal - why is it premised on those costs reducing 
the land value? How is this any different than what any other developer would do? (though 
like idea of 1% revolving fund that condo buyers contribute into). 

• Concern with commercial office space aspect - will there be oversupply with large amount to 
be built on nearby Unilever site? 

 
Agreement that Sidewalk Labs need to communicate better 

• Participants were generally in agreement that Sidewalk Labs needs to better explain their 
proposal. 

• The 1,500 page document was either poorly conceived communications plan or a “cynical 
effort to overwhelm citizens” / readers with information, and that this has likely contributed to 
some of the mistrust / skepticism about the MIDP and elements within. 

 
 

Breakout Room Discussion on Volume 2 – The Innovations  
 
There were approximately 50 participants from the public in this room who divided into four 
facilitated discussion groups: mobility; sustainability; public realm; and buildings and housing. 
Participants included local residents and interested citizens, students, sustainability consultants, 
and other professionals. Participants had a variety of interests and expertise including urban 
planning, civil engineering, and more.   
 
Overall feedback 
 
Receptive to some of the innovations and city-building techniques, however a lot of 
clarity is required first.  

• Some participants were receptive to the technology and innovation that Sidewalk Labs was 
proposing in the MIDP.  

• At the same time, there were many concerns and questions about the financing options, 
how the innovations would work in real time, and the mitigation plan in case of failure.  
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Some interest in proposed governance structures, with concerns about funding and 
integration.  

• There was acknowledgement that the scale of innovation in the proposal could require 
innovation in organizational / management structures and governance. However, this was 
usually expressed in relation to specific functions and not as a part of the overall discussion 
about the current regulatory framework or broader issues of democratic representation.  

• There was concern about how these entities would be funded and whether the funding 
sources assigned to them would be sufficient to address the unknown and unanticipated 
eventualities associated with new technology. 

• There was concern about how/if these new management governance structures would be 
integrated with current City structures like the TTC, Metrolinx, and Parks, Forestry and 
Recreation. 

• There was a concern that the level of effort and funding required to develop and 
operationalize these new management structures was not adequately provided for in in the 
Sidewalk Labs proposal. 

 
Need for access and equity in Quayside.  

• Participants were concerned that if people chose not to live in Quayside, or adopt the 
proposed technology, that they would be excluded.  

• The proposal of bookable space in the public realm was raised as an example where 
community members may be excluded from the public realm if they aren’t technology users, 
or they don’t agree to their data being collected.  

• Participants were also concerned about space allocation and how future visitors and 
workers would be accommodated when the plans seem to focus on residents.   

 
Concern about scale.  

• Some participants asked that Sidewalk Labs provide numbers that show if the innovations 
being proposed could be achieved at Quayside only, or whether they had to be implemented 
in the IDEA District.  

• Other participants brought up the issue of return on investment, and how keeping 
innovations only in Quayside, such as the heated bike paths, would render them ineffective.  

 
Public Realm  
 
There was support for a number of principles participants felt came through in the 
proposal.  

• This included creating a mixed community, having a mix of demographics, a mix of tenure 
and affordability, and a mix of use.  

 
Participants had questions, concerns and advice relating to equity and access. 

• Participants wanted to know how access to housing would be determined, and who the 
developer would be that people purchase property from. There is concern about who the 
“public” is in the Quayside community, and there are steps that need to be taken to prevent 
it from becoming the Silicon Valley of the north.  

• Suggestions include making it a mixed community, ensure equal access for all, and prevent 
income disparity.  

 
Almost all participants in this small table discussion were concerned that 12 acres was 
not enough space to test and explore some of the innovations proposed.  

• Some participants felt that Quayside was not big enough to see a return on investment for 
the public realm innovations.  
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• The example of the heated bike paths was raised, as the path has to be long enough to be 
worthwhile. There is support to look at a larger area, but it has to start somewhere.   

 
Two participants described this as a big opportunity for Toronto.  

• These participants said it’s important to outline public issues, but that the city can make it 
work one way or another. They think that Quayside would raise the bar for other 
development in the city.  

 
Some support for governance innovation, while highlighting potential risks involved. 

• Some participants were supportive of the innovation in governance proposed through the 
new bodies such as the Open Space Alliance (OSA). There was an acknowledgement of the 
level of effort and time that would be required to develop these new models that would be 
necessary to support the physical development of the site, which was seen as both a risk 
and a potential opportunity.  

• Some participants felt that the City doesn’t have a great track record of managing parks and 
public spaces, so the OSA was an interesting idea.  

 
Discussion around how to build a sense of community in Quayside.  

• Participants would like community to be embraced in Quayside, and wondered how much 
building and activity is needed here to create that. They would like existing communities in 
the surrounding area to be connected to Quayside, as there is some concern that the 
development would cause gentrification.  

• One suggestion was to create the public realm as a ‘commons’ where people manage the 
space collectively, and to look at other examples like the park conservancy model.  

 
Other comments: 

• Participants need more information about logistics, detail, operations  

• Hesitation about one development trying to address all the issues in the City and whether 
it’s feasible   

• Concern that OSA could run out of steam and what would happen if Sidewalk Labs leaves  

• Participants liked the space programming app 
 
Sustainability  
 
Participants support the development of a distributed energy model with private utilities 
to advance climate positive goals and promote resiliency at Quayside.  

• Someone said that ultimately the goal should be for customers to be able to generate their 
own energy supply and sell it. 

 
Many participants showed interest in the building codes and tall timber use.  

• Participants wanted to know whether Toronto has incentive to set the building code at a 
higher standard than the province, and if there is anything proposed by Sidewalk Labs that 
doesn’t meet the current standard.  

• Many participants were curious about the height of the timber construction and would like to 
know where the precedent comes from.  

• Some of the group members showed skepticism at constructing very tall buildings of timber. 
 
More information needed about active storm water management.  

• Participants would like clarification on what the plans are to reuse and capture water to 
reduce GHG emissions.  

• In addition, they would like to know if flood mitigation is being taken into account, and what 
the backup plan is in the case that green tech infrastructure fails.  
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Clarification is needed on the automation and data collection tools to advance 
sustainability.  

• One participant wondered how nimble and responsive the system would be, in terms of 
heating and cooling buildings.  

• Participants would also like to know where the data is going, and how it is being stored.  
 
Concern about the OSA and how it is managed.  

• Participants were concerned that if the OSA were to operate as an independent non-profit, it 
wouldn’t be accountable to the government.  

• One person said that if people are appointed privately, the organization would lack 
representation and diversity, and that the public needs may not be met.  

• Another person asked if the OSA’s governance structure would be similar to a Business 
Improvement Area (BIA).  

 
Concern that a private corporation would have too much control, and the importance of 
Waterfront Toronto and the City benefitting too.  

• While it’s understood that Sidewalk Labs is providing capital investment, there is concern 
from many about Sidewalk Labs having too much control in the project.  

• Participants felt that if the land is public, people need to pay for the services. If the City 
wants to raise the bar, people still pay for it because it’s on public land.   

 
With accountability and correct circumstances, the proposed management entities could 
be successful.  

• Some participants said that an independent agency could make progressive changes to 
balance the rigidity of the City, however Sidewalk Labs and Alphabet have to be held 
accountable in order for it to work successfully.  

 
In general, participants did not expect the project to be financially self-sustainable or the 
sustainability plan to be globally transferable.  

• Many participants said that they, as taxpayers, would have to contribute money to sustain 
this. 

• One person suggested that innovative business models can leverage public or private 
resources to make it more self-sustaining and felt that Sidewalk Labs’ interest in government 
infrastructure investment is unrealistic.  

• The participant said that cities in emerging economies face issues that are more serious 
than those in Toronto. As such, even with the intention of this project being a global 
example for sustainability, these solutions won‘t be transferable.  

 
Conditions and questions for the governance structure of the Waterfront Sustainability 
Association (WSA).  

• One participant would like to know how people would be appointed to the WSA, and how the 
different management entities would be held accountable and allow for democratic 
participation. It should be transparent and accessible with how information is accessed.  

• One participant voiced support, and said that small scale entities like WSA can be more 
nimble and less bureaucratic as long as they have a good governance model. How the 
entity is set up is what matters. 

 
Mobility  
 
Participants have questions about the adaptability of the technology.  
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• One participant asked how and on what basis technology shifts to meet the needs of the 
environment (i.e. curbless streets) and said that using innovative technology to meet the 
demand of the public realm is smart, but that there is a risk when it comes to automation 
and there has to be fail safe measures in place.  

 
Participants want to know the operating scale of the innovations within the MIDP.  

• There was some concern that what is being proposed in the MIDP is only applicable to the 
larger IDEA District  

• Participants wanted clarity on the context of the innovations and if they’re scalable from 120 
acres to 12 acres and vice versa  

 
Desire to see evidence for the projections made in the MIDP.  

• One participant asked if there is modelling that’s occurred to determine the mobility numbers 
and if Sidewalk Labs would be updating their activity-based model as technology continues 
to change.  

• The participant would like to see evidence about the emissions reduction from the transit 
plan.  

 
More information needed on the LRT and how it would be financed.  

• Some participants said that Waterfront Toronto has had a longstanding aspiration to have 
the LRT built  

• They asked how it would be built, and wondered if it isn’t rolled out in time if it could stop the 
entire plan from moving forward.    

• One participant felt that the funding model for transit proposed by SWL in the MIDP was 
quite sensible. It raises value and could be a win-win for the City and Sidewalk Labs.  

 
Discussion around real time data and mobility.  

• A participant asked about intelligent signals and dynamic curbs and would like to know if it is 
all digital technology or are there physical aspects too.  

• The participant said that it would be interesting to use data and technology for managing 
cycling and pedestrian traffic as it isn’t used much currently, but that it is important to 
consider the user’s perspective and experience in all of this.   

 
Discussion around enforcing bookable spaces.  

• A participant wondered what would happen and who would enforce the system in the event 
that someone reserves a bookable space and never claims it, but someone else who didn’t 
sign up does.  

 
Concern about access and equity in Quayside.   

• One participant asked what the difference is between Quayside and a gated community. A 
few participants expressed concern that people who don’t live in Quayside or those who 
don’t adopt the technology would be excluded.  

• A condition highlighted is that people have to be at the forefront of this consideration; 
Quayside can’t only be focused on innovation.  

• The same participant didn’t agree with what Sidewalk Labs has proposed as a whole. They 
were also very concerned about the opt-in or opt-out model, and required more information 
as to how it would work.  

 
More data could help with planning, so long as it’s collected safely and accessible.  

• One participant felt that the use of more data could be helpful in the long term, as it could 
make for quicker/more effective decisions than is normally seen with city building. However, 
the proper regulation has to be in place before this is considered.  



Round One Feedback Report – Appendix 1. Public Meeting Summaries, Chestnut Attachment - 10 

 
Concern about Sidewalk Labs’ compatibility with other infrastructure.  

• A participant noted the issue of Sidewalk Labs goal of being the lead developer for 
Quayside  

• They wondered if the amount of control would mean that other technology or services from 
other companies wouldn’t be as compatible as it would with Google technology.  

 
Suggestions for the consultation process.  

• One participant would like Waterfront Toronto to use clear and accessible language when 
talking about the innovations.  

 
Building & Housing  
 
Quayside as a destination for visitors, workers, and local residents.  

• Participants said that the plans seem focused on future residents, rather than future visitors 
and/or workers and raised concern about whether there is any consideration or enough 
space to accommodate future visitors since Quayside may become a popular destination.  

• Waterfront Toronto staff shared that they are looking to create complete communities that 
include a mix of uses, which follows existing precinct plans that identify areas for 
destinations and economic development. 
 

Interest in particular details about the breakdown between the housing options proposed 
by Sidewalk Labs and how the affordable housing components would be subsidized. 

• Participants asked several questions of clarification regarding how many affordable rental 
units would be in Quayside in particular; and the particular breakdown of numbers in the 
“40% below-market housing program”.  

• Participants also discussed whether these proposals align with the requirements for 
affordable housing outlined by Waterfront Toronto as well as the City of Toronto.  

• Participants also want to know whether Sidewalk Labs is proposing to subsidize affordable 
housing in Quayside or if the public would have to pay for it. 
 

Quayside should provide a mix of affordable unit sizes to accommodate a range of family 
sizes.  

• Participants shared concerns about small unit sizes and said it is important to provide 
affordable unit sizes to accommodate for a range of family sizes.  

• Participants were also curious about the details of shared equity ownership and efficient 
units. 
 

General interest in more details about mass timber buildings.  

• Participants discussed how mass timber buildings could be built, and what they may look 
like.  

• Waterfront Toronto staff shared that the proposed buildings would have timber on the 
exterior and interior. Any exposed timber would be required to include a fireproof outer layer. 
Staff also shared that Vancouver has an 18 storey mass timber building that was quickly 
built in 18 weeks. 
 

Concerns about construction and manufacturing costs for mass timber buildings.  

• Participants said using creating and using new materials, such as mass timber, may be 
more expensive since it would require a new factory and other manufacturing/construction 
costs. These costs may impact the affordability of the proposed housing types, with 
particular concerns that it may affect affordable housing units.  
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• Participants also expressed concern that high construction costs and land values may affect 
any proposed non-profit operators’ ability to purchase and manage the affordable housing 
units, specific concern was related to Shared Equity Units in which a non-profit is proposed 
to purchase units from Sidewalk Labs.   

• Participants asked whether mass timber buildings are more expensive than concrete 
buildings.  

• Waterfront Toronto staff said the proposed approach would be to do off-site construction, 
which may allow for more efficient transportation of materials, and a quick assembly on site 
in order to minimize costs. 
 

Is creating a mass timber factory and using mass timber environmentally sustainable?  

• Participants discussed whether it is environmentally sustainable to create a new mass 
timber factory in Ontario to start processing mass timber.  

• Waterfront Toronto staff shared that Sidewalk Labs proposed to create a new factory in 
Ontario in order to catalyze the timber industry. Ontario has certified sustainable forests. 
Using sustainable building materials and efficiently loading trucks to reduce truck trips would 
contribute to sustainability efforts. 
 

Other Feedback: 

• A participant was interested in learning about whether there are any proposals that speak to 
sustainability related to water (water recycling and carbon capture). 

• A participant commented on 5G technology and EMF harms. 

• A participant expressed concern that the Sidewalk Labs proposal is below the approved 
zoning envelope of the site and that because of this, Waterfront Toronto is leaving possible 
affordable housing units on the table.  

 
 

Breakout Room Discussion on Volume 3: The Partnership  
 
There were about 40 participants from the public in this room who divided into four facilitated 
discussions groups. The make-up of the room was diverse, including (but not limited to) 
interested residents, civic servants, non-profit community-serving organizations, tech and 
design firms, a realtor, a member of the Sidewalk Toronto Resident Reference Panel, students, 
journalists, an Provincial elected official (MPP), among others. Some members of Waterfront 
Toronto’s Board also participated. The overall tone of the discussion was concern and caution, 
with a number of comments directed at Waterfront Toronto’s review of the proposal.  
 
Comments on the MIDP and the public consultation 
 
The MIDP doesn’t communicate well 
• The MIDP is offering too many pieces all at once. It is difficult to understand how this can 

actually take place.  
• We need a clear, easy to understand, plain English details about what is being proposed. If 

Sidewalk Labs really explained the details of what is being proposed, people would be 
concerned and not supportive.  

• At one small table discussion, a participating Waterfront Toronto board member asked: “Can 
people understand what is being proposed?” Responses included: “The doc is a sales 
pitch.” “Too long.” “Uses unnecessary jargon.” “Unnecessarily complicated.” “Feeling like 
there is a deliberate effort to not use clear language.” 

• Question to Waterfront Toronto staff person: “Have you read all 1500 pages? Is it a 
straightforward document?” There’s a lot of duplication, making my way through it. It’s pretty 
repetitive. We’re using the Note to Reader for the consultation. 
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Mixed perspectives on the public consultation 
• Due to this process, the public has been engaged in important discussions about our data 

governance and other relevant conversations connected to the development of Toronto. 

• The Note to Reader is excellent. 

• The consultations (all public consultations) have a lack of legitimacy. 

• The good and bad of this project will be magnified and everyone needs to be aware of that if 
it moves forward.  

 
Concern about the approach taken by Sidewalk Labs 
 
Concern about Sidewalk Labs’ overreach 

• Waterfront Toronto hired Sidewalk Labs to do a planning exercise for 12 acres and they’ve 
planned for an area of 190 acres – it’s an overreach that goes beyond what was asked for. 
Waterfront Toronto’s resources are also now spread over a much larger area. Is that going 
to slow the process a lot? What is the opinion of Waterfront Toronto about this? What is your 
opinion about this? I can’t speak for all of Waterfront Toronto, but personally I think there are 
some exciting ideas, many would take a long time. I’m a lawyer and tend to take a 
conservative approach. There are a spectrum of options. 

• MIDP is an overreach from what was initially asked for in the RFP. 

• Clarity wanted on why Sidewalk Labs has chosen the specific areas to start the work.  
 
Concerns and questions about Sidewalk Labs’ promotion and assumptions 
• Sidewalk Labs has been 'jamming things in public discourse' on social media and other 

outlets about this MIDP while these public consultations are happening and that should not 
be allowed. Exampled provide of their Instagram account.  

• Concern that Sidewalk Labs says they will do one thing but not the other in the MIDP, it is a 
slight of hand trick. We cannot let the corporations set the table on what they will do and 
what they won’t. 

• Sidewalk Labs appears to be confident that government will cede power to it, specifically 
regarding the Public Administrator.  

• Sidewalk Labs’ anticipation that they will get government approvals in place by Q1 2020 
suggests that they are making assumptions about their ability to get approvals and have 
governments in their pocket.  

• The timelines are very aggressive. What precedent does this set for being able to move so 
quickly? Is Sidewalk Labs is naïve in thinking that their timelines are reasonable?  

• Multiple participants stated that more clarity was needed about Sidewalk Labs long-term 
goals and objectives, particularly with development, with the project in order to better assess 
the trade-off for a pilot. 

• Concern about the potential for Sidewalk Labs to offshore jobs. 
 
Comments on how Waterfront Toronto considers the Draft MIDP 
 
Need to question whether Sidewalk Labs is the right partner 

• “Currently we are in defense mode. Our backs feels like they're up against the wall. If we 
want to be the lead in the world when it comes to innovation, etc., we cannot do in defense 
mode. This should make us consider whether we have the right innovation partner 
(Sidewalk Labs) to begin with.” 

• Waterfront Toronto should get a read on Sidewalk Labs’ long-term goals, not just for the 
Quayside project but in general. This is important because the relationship between 
Sidewalk Labs and Waterfront Toronto is still unclear from the perspective of the public and 
Waterfront Toronto should make sure (on behalf of the public) that this project does not 
“become a sword over our heads.”  
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Questions and concerns about Waterfront Toronto’s relationship with, and obligations 
to, Sidewalk Labs 

• What is the commitment of Waterfront Toronto to Sidewalk Labs and how does Waterfront 
Toronto continue to work in good faith? A Waterfront Toronto representative commented 
that the organization is working within the Plan Development Agreement (PDA).  

• If in the future development Waterfront Toronto uses some ideas, what’s Waterfront 
Toronto’s commitment to Sidewalk Labs? A Waterfront Toronto representative commented 
that there are some ideas which Sidewalk Labs would keep 100% and some that Waterfront 
Toronto would share. 

• Concern about "situation dependency" - what happens if down the line Sidewalk 
Labs/Google wants to get out of this deal or we want to get out.  

• Was Waterfront Toronto aware that Sidewalk Labs was working on a bigger plan? A 
Waterfront Toronto representative commented that the organization started to become 
aware earlier this year. Before the leak (February 2019), nothing was explicit. We were 
talking about the potential for scale. We spent a lot of time on Volumes 1 and 2, but Volume 
3 contains the partnership plan and business plan, and it came last. As Sidewalk Labs’ 
ideas changed, the business plan changed.  

• A participant expressed concerned that innovation and great ideas take a long time to do 
and things can change so much. Do we want to tie ourselves to one company? 

• Questions about transparency around the initial RFP and timeline provided to submit 
responses.  

• Can Waterfront Toronto go back to Sidewalk Labs and say that they did not deliver what 
was asked in the RFP and to redo it? A Waterfront Toronto representative commented hat is 
part of the evaluation process Waterfront Toronto will use through the feedback from these 
public consultations.  

• Questions about timeline of final due date of Sidewalk Labs' revised proposal and role for 
public to view that and provide feedback.  

• What is Waterfront Toronto’s negotiating ability with Sidewalk Labs and ability to revise the 
agreement after it is established? 

 
Need limits and an exit strategy 

• What are the exit strategies? Can this be vetoed by other levels of government because of 
non-regulatory requirements? Appears Sidewalk Labs has been hired for the duration. 

• Is it possible for it to be Quayside only? And if we say yes to Quayside, then we need to 
make sure that 5 years later there isn’t a surprise ask by Sidewalk Labs for more.  

• What is the framework for Waterfront Toronto to put “lines in the sand”? Who determines the 
“you can’ts”? For example, you can’t have more than 1 sensor every x distance or you can’t 
monitor inside apartment units. 

 
A threat to our democratic processes and institutions 

• There were multiple comments that Sidewalk Labs’ approach, and their proposal in general, 
potentially pose a threat to our democratic processes and institutions.  

• It was noted that the risk to democratic process was too high (the sentiment was echoed by 
others at the table, through nodding and agreement).  

• The process and consultation on the West Don Lands and East Bayfront were “brilliant” but 
the process for this proposal is different.  
 

Need analysis of real impacts as well as the potential unintended consequences of the 
proposal, including (but not limited to) human impacts, impacts on activities in the 
neighbouring and surrounding areas, and impacts on the Canadian tech ecosystem  
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• The real and unintended consequences of this project have not been adequately laid out by 
Sidewalk Labs. Waterfront Toronto needed to seriously consider all consequences and 
outcomes of this project and whether what was being proposed was feasible or had any 
unintended consequences (e.g. land titling system/process does not fit what Sidewalk Labs 
is proposing around land leasing and acquisition, and would we be adjusting entire systems 
to accommodate them? the proposed economic benefits may not actually be realized in the 
event that they cannot find enough of the types of workers that they need in the area or 
simply choose to outsource that work to other countries). Because of this, it appears as 
though Sidewalk Labs is just trying to get the go-ahead and will deal with the details of 
implementation later.  

• In this 360 degree consideration of the proposal, Waterfront Toronto and others needed to 
consider impacts on the current Canadian tech ecosystem, particularly in the event that 
Sidewalk Labs pulls out after several years and whether or not we trust them in that regard, 
as well as the precedent it may set for developers in other parts of the province who want 
building codes changed for their own purposes.  

• Waterfront Toronto needs to get more information on the positives and negative impacts on 
surrounding areas, particularly how would any connecting pieces be used or improved – 
connecting trails, dedicated water taxis, etc. What would be the impact on those current 
services that are accessed by surrounding areas?  

• How would the services / solutions proposed for the district integrate with the rest of the 
city?  

• The lens we have been using to date to talk about the MIDP is from through 'economic 
development.' We need to review this from an 'impact on humans' lens.  

• Concern/need clarity about what would the City be on the hook for down the line.  
 
Involve external experts and residents in the evaluation 

• In order to deal with risks, which may or may not be fully understood or identified by 
Waterfront Toronto, Waterfront Toronto needs to consult as many experts as possible, 
representing a diversity of sectoral experience, expertise, geography and general 
knowledge (the participant said “everyone from farmers to City Planners”) to assess the 
proposal from a 360 degree angle. The opinions of City experts and officials should be given 
additional weight and consideration. 

• Since the MIDP needs to be approved/agreed upon by both Waterfront Toronto and 
Sidewalk Labs, what is the breakdown of evaluation? Who from Waterfront Toronto is 
evaluating the technical and financial aspects of the MIDP? Is all of that at the expense of 
Waterfront Toronto? 

 
Consider 12 acres first 

• The concept should first be proven at Quayside before scaled elsewhere. 

• A lot of land along the Waterfront is possibly very valuable; if Sidewalk Labs does get 
approval and “it doesn’t go according to plan” then we (Waterfront Toronto and the public) 
are left with the fallout of that and sunk costs. Waterfront Toronto should stick to a pilot 
project to mitigate the risks and avoid possible disaster.  

• Why can’t we test this out in 12 acres and see if it works, then move to 190? Is Waterfront 
Toronto holding Sidewalk Labs to Quayside only? Is Sidewalk Labs willing to buy or lease 
Quayside and Villiers, or just buy? 

• Concern that this is a mismatch between the agreed upon idea that this would remain a pilot 
and the amount and type of land being considered for use in this pilot (we are “giving up the 
heart and liver of Toronto”).  

• Waterfront Toronto needs to clarify with the public the scope of the RFP as it relates for the 
desire for something that is scalable. What was Waterfront Toronto’s vision for the scalability 
of the initiative?  



Round One Feedback Report – Appendix 1. Public Meeting Summaries, Chestnut Attachment - 15 

• If Sidewalk Labs is held to the 12 acres, how much of what is in the MIDP needs to stay in 
place, specifically the Public Administrator? 

• Has Sidewalk Labs made it clear whether they intend to only develop on Quayside and 
Villiers or that they just want to start there? Advice was given that if that hasn’t been made 
clear, it should be made clear to Waterfront Toronto.  

 
Need to ensure involvement of residents and other local entities that haven’t been 
considered 

• If there’s any consideration of going beyond Quayside, then before that decision is made, 
we would need to go through this whole consultation again. 

• If this is to go forward, we need to ensure resident involvement. 

• Let's consider all the other local entities that can be involved in this proposal that Sidewalk 
Labs has not considered (current schools, housing systems, etc.). 

 
Need strong Waterfront Toronto leadership 

• Waterfront Toronto should manage this process strongly. Bring diverse experts who 
represent the community into the decision making and oversight process.  

• Need clarity on whether the proposal, if approved by Waterfront Toronto, would still have to 
be approved by city council and the province/ federal governments? How would the other 
levels of government be able to influence the process?  

• This appears to be more like an experiment than a pilot or a test and experiments typically 
have fewer controls than tests. Waterfront Toronto needs to determine the controls for this 
project. 

 
Consider how to move forward while addressing risks 

• The risk is apparent but we also need to consider the risk of not moving forward with this 
opportunity. We need to look through the lens of, “how can we harness this proposal to 
strengthen our democratic institutions and create less conflict of interest for future 
models/projects.” We may miss this opportunity because of fear when we may have an 
opportunity to use this project to address all the things we are concerned about. Waterfront 
Toronto should figure out what it is(n’t) willing to budge on and think about how they might 
move forward while addressing the risks outlined in this discussion.  

• If it can be demonstrated that the governance structure remains the same as current 
Waterfront Toronto governance systems, then perhaps the IDEA district idea could be 
considered. Alternatively, we would need to establish enforceable and strong regulations.  

• Waterfront Toronto would need to lead the proposed development.  
• Existing oversight bodies should oversee the project and not create new bodies.  
 
Comments on governance proposals 
 
Questions and concerns about the Public Administrator 

• Several participants said that more information and clarity is needed about the Public 
Administrator and management entities. 

• There were a significant number of questions about the Public Administrator, how it would 
function, and its role/responsibilities as well as its interactions with government, specifically, 
City Council. Why does Sidewalk Labs believe this approach is required? Who would 
appoint the Public Administrator? 

• The language about the Public Administrator is very vague, and questions of whether 
Sidewalk Labs had discussed it at any of their public consultations. 

• Sidewalk Labs proposes new administrative roles. How does that work and who are they 
accountable to? I don’t understand it.  
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• Concern that the agreement and the new oversight bodies are eroding / trumping 
democratically accountable public actors  

• A lot of concern and questions regarding the 3 new proposed agencies. Why is Sidewalk 
Labs not prepared to work with existing oversight bodies? Who would be sitting on these 
committees? How would these people be appointed? Who would run housing and how 
would housing partnerships be established?  

• Questions about transparency. The MIDP proposes quasi-private institutional models. We 
already have mechanisms for governing things like housing (TCHC) and transit (TTC). Why 
are they proposing things where we already have democratic processes?  

• Comments that the MIDP proposes a duplication of governance structures that already 
exists. A Waterfront Toronto representative commented that Waterfront Toronto is able to 
carry out 6 out of the 8 pieces.  

• Concern about the 4 bodies that would be under the Public Administrator and how this 
infringes on the Canada democratic process. It creates huge layers of bureaucracy.  

 
Concerns about privatization, the influence of Sidewalk Labs and Google, and the 
resources they have (which would be hard to fight) 
• Concern about "privatization creep". What may end up happening is that once there are all 

these sub-committees, they will be pressured into decisions by Sidewalk Labs/Google since 
they would be advising on what’s needed. 

• Concern about privatizing city services.  
• Concern that directly elected governments have previously not been able to control 

corporations. The Draft MIDP proposes something new (the Public Administrator) and that 
will do nothing. It will be very difficult to control Sidewalk Labs. Comment that Google is a 
huge company with lots of money and it will be hard to fight them.  

• Concern that if Google wants to 'advise' the different levels of government on ideas, then 
they are going to influence to have things happen in their favour. 

• Concern that what is being proposed would become an "economic zone" with different 
regulations that would be exploitative 

• “We need to think through whether Quayside would be a Vatican City of sorts.” 
• Sidewalk Labs has a possible conflictual relationship: they are asking for a great deal of 

power and public money, so how wise is it to have Sidewalk Labs take on quasi-
governmental powers while simultaneously funding the project? Does that give them too 
much leverage or opportunity to blackmail the City of Toronto? 

• There is a lot of concern about a private actor playing the role of government.  
 
Comments on the proposal 
 
Concern about the focus on innovation 

• “I don’t like how we got to this point. Whatever friction now exists (e.g. with the letter from 
the Chair), Waterfront Toronto went overboard with innovation by putting the RFP out at all 
in the form that it did. Why are we not questioning the basic premise? Why go overboard 
with innovation? Where did the idea come from? Doesn’t seem like this is causing any 
friction. The areas that are sticking out to Waterfront Toronto are really minor aspects of this 
whole thing.” 

• Can we get some sort of plan without financing and without innovation? 

• The innovation strategy proposed in the MIDP is quite mundane. All are very standard fare. 
It is something that anyone who wants to talk about innovation would have done. 

 
Questions and concerns related to financing, performance benefits, profit sharing 

• A strong feeling that Sidewalk Labs should NOT make money from city revenue. 
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• I’m interested in the concept of performance benefits if Sidewalk Labs can meet targets. 
What types of things would we give as a bonus? And what are the repercussions of failing to 
deliver?  

• Need to understand more about how Profit Sharing scheme is beneficial to the City of 
Toronto as well as the impact of this on local companies. There is also a sense that this may 
be used as a bargaining chip between Sidewalk Labs and Waterfront Toronto and we 
should not let Sidewalk Labs decide the profit sharing scheme.  

• Is Sidewalk Labs trying to become a private financer of public projects?  

• Is there precedence for governments paying private actors performance payments in the 
way that has been proposed?  

• Mixed views on transit financing. Some strong views against private financing, some see 
that land value is already being lost because of the lack of transit availability currently.  

• 10% of IP revenue is not a good deal.  
 
Questions and concern related to technology and IP 

• Sidewalk Labs should only be able to make money on tech product development and 
revenue, and not from public revenue sources. Sidewalk Labs should not be paid for an 
opportunity to develop scalable urban technology.  

• Has there been any discussion with respect to facial recognition being implemented there? 
No. 

• Issues related to privacy and data are time delayed. They don't appear to be an issue after 
much later and we would only find out later the consequences. Example provided of Uber 
starting back in the day and now it's impact on public transit.  

• Uncomfortable that what is being proposed in the MIDP sounds like people who live in that 
area would have to 'opt in' around the negative effects of technology/privacy, etc.  We need 
to keep in mind about the impact of those who pass by the area.  

• How would 10% revenue from IP sales be dispersed? Can it be re-invested in revitalization?  

• More information is desired regarding the use of data to create IP and how Sidewalk Labs 
can make money from the technology developed  

• Would Toronto have an exclusivity agreement with Sidewalk Labs on the technology that 
they develop? 

 
Other 

• Interest in affordable housing and net zero goals / targets. 

• MIDP offers nothing unique.  
• Canada has a history of exploitation of our natural resources.  
 

Breakout Room Discussion on Digital Innovations, Privacy, 
Digital Governance, and Intellectual Property  
 
There were approximately 50 participants who divided into three facilitated discussion groups. 
Two of the groups focused on Digital Innovations, Privacy, and Digital Governance, and one of 
the groups focused on Intellectual Property. The make-up of the room was diverse, including 
(but not limited to): residents, members of Waterfront Toronto’s Digital Strategy Advisory Panel, 
technology entrepreneurs, members of the Block Sidewalk campaign, and others. 
 
Several participants were in the room to listen and learn, while others were there to share 
feedback and concerns with Waterfront Toronto about the Sidewalk Labs Proposal. The over-
arching topics discussed in the room were:  
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Feedback about the project overall 
 
Regulation should be in place first 

• Several participants felt strongly that Waterfront Toronto should not be saying yes to 
technology that is not governed by a regulatory framework. Terms like “urban data” and 
“urban data trust” do not exist in any Canadian regulations, for example, and we shouldn’t 
be contemplating allowing a private corporation to define these in the absence of our own 
definitions. Some felt we should wait and see what kind of regulations get developed by 
government before making a decision on our own. 

• Participants also discussed the importance of “strong first principles” around a digital 
governance framework, saying that its unlikely legislation will ever be able to catch up or 
keep pace with the rate of technological innovation. They said strong first principles around 
digital governance could help address the slow rate of regulatory change and said these 
principles should be in place at the Federal, Provincial, and Municipal levels before making 
a decision about Sidewalk Labs’ proposal. 

 
Distrust of Sidewalk Labs / Google / Alphabet and fear of data collection 

• Some participants said they were open to exploring the idea of a smart city, but many said 
they did not trust Sidewalk Labs and felt Waterfront Toronto should not partner with them. 
They referred to Google’s track record of abandoned projects (referencing the recent 
Google Fibre abandonment) and poorly implemented initiatives and said Waterfront Toronto 
should be considering this history. Others said they felt like Sidewalk Labs was seeking us 
out rather than Waterfront Toronto seeking them out, potentially motivated to site Google’s 
headquarters in the Port Lands. A few encouraged Waterfront Toronto to hire the best 
experts to review the MIDP from a public interest perspective. 

• Some said they were very uncomfortable with any kind of data collection in an urban 
environment, saying citizens effectively become tech companies’ products in these kinds of 
environments. Others said it’s increasingly difficult to opt out of data tracking, saying things 
like Bluetooth beacons and WiFi are increasingly sophisticated at tracking people, even if 
they’re not carrying a phone. 

 
A big opportunity to get a good digital governance framework in place 

• Participants said that the market models around data are still emerging across the world and 
that the models we settle on will have repercussions for a very long time. We are at an 
inflection point, they said: people are now paying attention to this discussion and waking up 
to the unintended consequences of un-regulated technology. They said there is a big 
opportunity to put in place the kind of framework we want: one with citizen control.  

• A few said there are opportunities worth exploring in what Sidewalk Labs has proposed and 
said we shouldn’t be afraid of things because they are new or tech-embedded. A few 
participants cited potential benefits to being a test bed including jobs, economic activity, and 
brand development. Of those willing to consider Sidewalk Labs’ proposal, some said we 
should adopt these ideas incrementally (rather than all at once) so we can better mitigate 
risks. A few said they need to better understand what the trade-offs are beyond nominal 
cash value, saying these are currently not clear. 

• Participants suggested Waterfront Toronto look at other places and try to develop an even 
better regulatory framework than Europe’s Greater Data Protection Regulation (GDPR). 
They also said we should learn from our own local experiences (e.g. Uber and AirBNB), 
where our policy was reactive rather than proactive. 

 
Suggestions about the Urban Data Trust 

• Participants said the Urban Data Trust should be more carefully defined, especially if “Trust” 
already means something under Canadian law. These definitions are important to establish 
early, before people get into the weeds of issues like access to data, data formats, etc. 
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Participants also suggested Waterfront Toronto require Sidewalk Labs to create/share more 
details about the Trust, including an elaboration on how different levels of government and 
agencies would be involved in its oversight enforcement. 

• Others suggested Waterfront Toronto advocate for a de-centralized Urban Data Trust 
through the creation of multiple Trusts (similar to how there are multiple banks) rather than a 
single, monolithic entity. A de-centralized system is feasible from both a technical and policy 
perspective and would help put people and personal choice at the centre of data 
stewardship. A de-centralized system, they said, would help produce a “true smart city”: a 
city that it not a place of surveillance, but a place with digitally-safe and autonomous 
citizens. 

 
Other topics discussed related to data 
Participants discussed a number of other data-related topics, including: 

 

• Opportunities for public access to data. There should be clear mechanisms for the public to 
request and gain access to data gathered in a readable, useable, organized, and maintained 
format. 

• Data collection must demonstrate public good. For each new digital initiative at Quayside, 
there should be a process that requires proponents to show how the collection of data would 
benefit the public and how it would affect the city (and even province and country) at large.  

• Data breach enforcement. Participants said individuals should be held accountable for data 
breaches. 

• No consequences for opting out. Participants said there shouldn’t be consequences to 
opting out of data collection, such as denial of service or increased prices. Right now, 
insurance companies are offering incentives by tracking people’s cares and/or fitness 
activity. 

• There needs to be the neighbourhood equivalent of the “no photo” sticker distributed at the 
meeting, i.e. a way to identify you’re not interested in being tracked. 
 

Feedback about Intellectual Property and partnership 
 
Participants had questions and feedback about the Intellectual Property Proposals. Participants 
wanted to understand how this project would serve small and medium Canadian companies, 
with a few saying the Quayside project could help taking Canadian tech companies to global 
markets. 
 
Questions and feedback about profit sharing 

• Interest in learning the rationale for sharing in 10% of the profits for 10 years.  

• Desire to see a dollar figure connected to the profit-sharing proposal. Participants said this 
profit-sharing proposal could be a loophole for Sidewalk labs, especially when it looks at 
profit (as opposed to revenue). Some said Google has a history of giving tech for free and/or 
reinvesting its money so that it appears to have no profit. 

• Interest in learning whether the 10% applies to technologies only (i.e. not to data). 
 
Question and feedback about the patent pledge 

• Some asked Waterfront Toronto look into whether we over-estimating the power of patents, 
saying rapid evolution of technology can render tech patents less useful. Others said that 
patents do not create a monopoly; being tied to one service provider does. 

 
Other feedback about Intellectual Property and partnership 

• Participants said there would need to be commercial assurances that businesses are not 
automatically giving their innovative ideas to Sidewalk Labs and that setting up a business in 
Quayside does not automatically create commercial value for another company. There 
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The Good Jobs for All Coalition (GJFA) is an alliance of more than 30 community, labour, social justice, youth and 
environmental organizations in the Toronto region. It was formed in 2008 to start a focused dialogue on how to 
improve living and working conditions in Canada's largest urban centre. For 10 years, the coalition has worked to 
develop strategies that affirm the values of a truly just society - healthy communities, a green economy, strong public 
services, equity, and decent work for all. The coalition meets monthly and is co-chaired by Tam Goosen and Carolyn 
Egan respectively representing community organizations and labour organizations. 
 
Good Jobs for All: http://goodjobsforall.ca/about/   
 


